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EDITORIAL FOREWORD

SINCE the appearance of the last volume of this Journal, the Society has acquired new
premises—the first that have truly belonged to it—and the change from Hinde Street
to Doughty Mews was affected during the autumn of 1968. The move and the subse-
quent decoration of the new rooms were carried out largely by the voluntary help of
some of the Society’s members, organized with great efficiency by our Secretary, Miss
Mary Crawford. All who have inspected the premises agree that an excellent job has
been done. We hope that with a home of its own the Society will flourish even more,
and continue effectively to prosecute the purposes for which it was established.

The last ceremonial act in the old rooms was the presentation to Professor Cerny of
a specially bound copy of Volume 54 of the Journal on August 23, the day following his
seventieth birthday. This happy ceremony took place in the presence of the Committee
of the Society and of some of the scholars from home and abroad who had contributed
essays to the volume.

Fieldwork carried out by the Society’s expeditions during 1968, and briefly reported
in the Foreword to Volume 54, forms the subject of three reports in the present volume.
During the current year, work has continued at Saqqéra, and is in progress at Tell
el-Fara‘in at the time of writing this Foreword. In addition we were able to renew work
at Qasr Ibrim in conditions which were by no means easy. On the last expedition
Professor Plumley reports as follows:

A further season’s work at Qasr Ibrim was begun on January 23, 1969, and terminated on March g.
Three areas were excavated. To the south of the Great Church work was concentrated on the area
immediately north of the partially excavated great stairway. This area was originally occupied by
a number of buildings of various dates; but it is now evident that the great stairway once gave
access to a massive stone structure which may have been the Residence of the Eparch or Deputy
of the High King of Nubia, probably during the period ¢. 650-1173 A.D. Beneath the so-called
Residence lay the remains of walls of an earlier structure which may possibly date to the Meroitic
Period. The surviving walls of this building rise to a height of approximately 1-50 m. The exterior
faces of these walls are mason-finished, and bear a number of symbols in relief. One of these symbols
depicts an amphora in its stand; the others may be bunches of grapes. The purpose of this building
is not yet clear, but the discovery of an ornamental bouquet of durra buried in a shallow pit under
the level of a pavement which once surrounded this building at least suggests that it may have had
some religious significance. From this area came further fragments of manuscripts written in Greek,
Old Nubian, Coptic, and Arabic. A few of the texts are clearly liturgical, but most of the Old
Nubian and the Arabic are letters. At least two of the Old Nubian letters are addressed to the
Eparch, and possibly one or two of the earlier Arabic letters are also so addressed. Among other
objects found in this area were two fine brass bowls, probably of early Mameluke date.

The second area to be excavated was at the south angle of the great west fortifications of the
Fortress. Here, as expected from the evidence of the short preliminary season in December 1966,
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2 EDITORIAL FOREWORD

the workmen uncovered the original south gate of the Fortress. There seems little doubt that this
is Meroitic in origin, and that it was blocked up during the latest period of Meroitic occupation.
Two blocks of stone, possibly lintel blocks, each bearing the prenomen and nomen of Taharqa, had
been used to block the gateway. In the debris thrown down behind the blocking a large number of
potsherds of Meroitic manufacture, and many fragments of papyri inscribed with cursive Meroitic,
were found. Among the latter was one large piece of papyrus inscribed in Greek. Originally a flight
of steps had led up to the gate, but this had been deliberately destroyed, probably when the blocking
of the gate took place.

The discovery of the Taharqa blocks encouraged the excavators to think that a temple of his time
had possibly been sited not far from the blocked gate. An area a short distance to the north of the
gateway was therefore investigated by means of a trench. As a result of this investigation the founda-
tions of what must have been a gateway were uncovered, and an area exposed, the nature of which
strongly supports the suggestion that here once stood a small temple or a large shrine. The area
seems to have been systematically robbed, and it is possible that much of the great stone-work of the
Church may have come from this area. The identification of a number of coins found in this area
may eventually help to determine the approximate date of the final dismantling of the building which
once stood here.

As in many recent years, Saqqéra has been the principal scene of our work in the
field. Professor Emery has written the following short note on the season’s work:

On November 23, 1968, we reopened our excavations on the site of the temple of Nectanebo IT
which was discovered last year. Our first task was the removal of the Christian settlement above the
deliberately destroyed Pharaonic monuments which were revealed as a series of chapels built against
the face of the escarpment. These chapels rest on the rubble-filled platform enclosed by the great
brick enclosure, half of which has now been cleared down to the original ground level, revealing
still older structures of an earlier but uncertain date. The character of these earlier buildings, which
are probably contemporary with the enclosure wall, must remain unknown until further excavation
is carried out. In the course of the removal of the fill of the enclosure we had expected to find the
entrance to the mausoleum of Isis, Mother of Apis, but so far we have failed in our search. However,
the comparative preponderance, in the inscribed material, of reference to Apis and the sacred cow
leaves little doubt that the burial place is in the immediate vicinity.

Throughout the clearance of the Nectanebo shrines and the fill of the enclosure numerous deposits
of bronze, wood, and stone statuettes were found, the most remarkable of which was a group of three
wooden shrines, hundreds of bronze statuettes, and a fine wooden figure of Osiris, in a stone-lined
pit in the floor of one of the chapels. The objects, some of them wrapped in linen, were in an almost
perfect state of preservation; but even more important were some Carian stelae which had been
used to line the walls of the pit. Excavation behind one of the smaller chapels revealed two rough-
stone retaining walls which led direct to the face of the escarpment, and a gate which gave access to
an amazing series of underground galleries in which were buried the cynocephalous baboons who,
with the ibis, were sacred to Thoth and Imhotep. The animals were mummified, wrapped in linen,
and placed in wooden chests which were then filled solid with gypsum plaster. The chests, with
their solidified contents were then placed in sealed niches built in the sides of the galleries. These
galleries, unlike those of the ibis, with which they are connected, are stone-lined and are rich in
hieroglyphic and demotic graffiti, all of which have now been recorded. There was also a rich find
of Carian stelae with texts in good preservation.

The galleries are on two levels connected by a stairway, in the vicinity of which we discovered a

two-thirds life-size statue of Isis nursing the infant Horus and two life-size statues of the sacred
baboon.
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The main upper gallery is terminated by a break into a Third-dynasty burial shaft. Because of the
precarious condition of the rock and the shaft-filling, our attention was directed to the top of the
escarpment with a view to finding the mouth of the shaft. By February 5 large-scale excavation
revealed the top of the shaft and a great Third-dynasty tomb of unusual design with a superstructure
measuring 52 m. X 19 m., thus being one of the largest in the archaic necropolis. A jar sealing, found
with pottery in one of its ravaged magazines, bore the serekh of Neterkhet (Zoser). Work in its south
burial shaft, which connects it with the baboon galleries, has had to be suspended until next season
for technical reasons. On March 6 the excavations were closed down until next November when our
first task will be directed to a detailed examination of this most interesting tomb and the area
surrounding it.

This has undoubtedly been the most successful season the Society has had since the present
campaign began at Saqqéra in 1964, and future excavation in this area will probably be even more
rewarding. The division of the antiquities discovered took place on March 10 and a generous share
of the finds is now on its way to the United Kingdom.

ACA

Reports on these two excavations and on the work at Tel el-Fara‘in this year will
appear in the next volume of the Journal.

During the year Egyptology has suffered many sad losses. The Society particularly
mourns the death of one of its honorary members, Mr. Warren Dawson, a former
Treasurer; an obituary notice appears later in this volume. Dr. J. Leibovitch, also a
member of the Society for many years, and a prolific writer on Egypto-Semitic subjects,
died on April 4, 1968.

Among Egyptologists who have died in the past year, who were not members of the
Society, the one probably best known to members was Dr. Williams S. Smith, Curator
of Egyptian Art in the Boston Museum of Fine Arts. His unexpected death on January
12, 1969, has robbed our science of one of its most learned and percipient art-historians.
There are many who will remember hiskindness; he was atruly generous custodian of the
antiquities he supervised. Professor Giuseppe Botti, who died on September 27, 1968,
will also be much missed; he had reached the advanced age of 79, but was still heavily
engaged in scholarly activities. He will be especially remembered by British Egyptologists
for his fruitful collaborations with T. E. Peet, Sir Alan Gardiner, and Professor Cerny.

Here too we sadly record the deaths of Dr. Hans Hickmann and Dr. Irmgard
Woldering. The former, a distinguished musicologist, devoted many years to an
intensive study of ancient Egyptian music and musical instruments. His writings in this
field will remain standard for many years to come. He died on a visit to England on
September 4, 1968. Dr. Woldering, the Director of the Kestner Museum, Hanover,
since 1955, was first and foremost a writer on Egyptian art. She died on April 24, 196g.

Many Egyptian collections in the great and small museums of the world remain
partly published and little known. Some institutions have made notable contributions
to our science by publishing catalogues of particular categories of objects; but it is
evident that much still remains to be done. Four scholars concerned with collections,
Mr. Bernard Bothmer of Brooklyn, Dr. Miroslav Verner of Prague, and Dr. Karl-
Heinz Priese and Dr. Steffen Wenig of East Berlin, have prepared a long document, en-
titled Zur Verdffentlichung von Bestinden dgyptischer Museen und Sammlungen, which will
be published in ZA.S g6 later this year. They recommend a method of slip-publication
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which would render all collections available to scholars in a standard form. We have
been asked to draw the attention of museum curators and owners of collections of
Egyptian antiquities to this document, and earnestly beg them to consider whether
they can co-operate in such an enterprise. The problems involved should not be
minimized ; the labour of preparing slips will inevitably fall chiefly on existing museum
staffs, while the value of the results will depend on the accuracy and knowledge of those
same staffs. Some may think that the scheme is ideal, but impracticable. It is, however,
a scheme to be discussed. No attempt to improve the present situation should be
rejected without being given proper consideration.

Of recent publications a special welcome should greet the first two fascicules of
Ramesside Texts by Mr. K. A. Kitchen of Liverpool University. Mr. Kitchen plans to
publish hand-copies of all known historical texts of the Ramesside Period, thereby
making available a great mass of primary source material much of which is at present
only available in copies scattered throughout Egyptological literature. The work will
appear in fascicules, and it is good to learn that he has succeeded in making arrange-
ments with Messrs. B. H. Blackwell of Oxford for the printing and distribution of the
parts. Everyone will hope that Mr. Kitchen will have the strength and determination
to see the scheme through to a successful finish. _

A successful finish has certainly attended the efforts of Miss Bodil Hornemann, the
last two parts of whose T’ypes of Ancient Egyptian Statuary appeared in the spring this
year. The drawings of Egyptian sculpture, small and large, which make up this work
provide a remarkable bank of careful information of infinite value to the student of
Egyptian art. It is a work the worth of which becomes increasingly apparent with use.
Miss Hornemann deserves our gratitude for completing so notably a task that has
engrossed her energies for more than thirty years.

We have been asked to inform readers of the Journal about another book which may
be difficult to obtain through normal channels. This is Anthropomorphic Figurines of
Predynastic Egypt and Neolithic Crete by Peter J. Ucko, which contains a comprehen-
sive catalogue of figurines, and a discussion of their possible function. Copies can be
obtained from Macfarlanes, Dowgate Hill House, London, E.C. 4, or from Dr. Ucko,
11 Compayne Gardens, London, N.W. 6, price £6 6s., postage and packing extra
(Britain, 5s. 6d.; elsewhere, 6s. 6d.).

Among the leaflets distributed with this copy of the Journal is one advertising the
new British Museum Society. The organizers hope that members of the Egypt Explora-
tion Society will read this leaflet with care and sympathy. The work of our Society has
since the beginning been carried out in close association with members of the staffs of
the Departments of Egyptian Antiquities and of Manuscripts of the British Museum,
and the Museum is the principal repository of the antiquities and documents brought
back to this country as the results of the Society’s activities in Egypt and the Sudan.
This association provides but one reason why we are glad to commend the new British
Museum Society. Members of the Egypt Exploration Society will no doubt have many
other good reasons for welcoming this opportunity to participate actively in the plans
for the future development of the British Museum.
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THE TELL EL-FARA'IN EXPEDITION, 1968

By M. V. SETON-WILLIAMS

THE fourth season was carried out at Tell el-Fara‘in from the beginning of May until
the end of the first week in July. This year the expedition was financed by generous
gifts from the Metropolitan Museum of Art, New York, and the Royal Ontario Museum,
and by numerous donations from ordinary members of the Egypt Exploration Society.
As a result, for the first time there were sufficient funds available to employ enough
workmen and transport.

I should like to express the thanks of the Expedition to Dr. Gamal Mukhtar, the
Director General of Antiquities, to Dr. Hassan Bakry, to Dr. Munir Basta of the Tanta
Inspectorate, and all his colleagues to whom we owe so much; we were fortunate in
having one of them as our inspector this year, Mr. Ali Gamal ed-Din el-Hakim. We
are also grateful to Reis Ismayil Ibrahim Fayid, who has assisted us in all our seasons.

My thanks are also due to the members of the Expedition: Dr. Donald Redford,
who acted as Field Supervisor and Epigraphist; Miss Dorothy Charlesworth, whose
work on the industrial area is described in a separate article; Mr. Joseph Clarke and
Mr. Peter French, who were site supervisors and draughtsmen; Mrs. Stephanie Gee,
who did the recording, a large part of the photography, and the drawing; Mr. Peter
Clayton, who worked on the coins and prepared the report given below; and Mr. David
Dyson, who acted as photographer. Mrs. J. Martin, A.R.I.B.A., drew the plans with her
customary skill. I should also like to thank the Revd. H. E. J. Biggs for his help with
the report on mollusca, and Mrs. Betty Westley for her help with the animal bones.

This year we were fortunate in having brief visits from Professor J. M. Plumley,
Dr. V. D. Macdermot, and Dr. and Mrs. Henry Fischer.

Work was conducted on parts of the mounds on Site B, the temple area; on Site Jj
33/4 and Kk 34, the industrial area (see separate report below); and on Kom el-Dahab.

Site B: The Temple area (fig. 1). Work was continued in clearing the inner temple
enclosure, the plan of which was not completed last year. A series of large 20-metre
squares was laid down sufficient to establish the main outline of the building. The
structure of the temple now appears to be of the type described by Petrie at Tell
Nabésha as a typical Delta temple.’ A large area was cleared and levelled and enclosed
inside a mudbrick retaining wall. Sometimes a mudbrick platform was laid down or a
layer of clean sand of varying thickness. On this the temple structure was built. The
size of the temple enclosure at Tell el-Fara‘in had been previously established as 31 x
65 m. It is interesting to compare it with the enclosure of the temple dedicated to
Edjo discovered at Tell Nabésha which was 100 X 54 ft., and the temple to Nekhbet at

1 See Petrie, Tanis, 11, 8 on the Egyptian method of building temples in the Delta.
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El-Ké4b which was 60 x 30 m., both being slightly smaller than the Tell el-Fara‘in
building. Inside the mudbrick wall was a limestone wall lined with quartzite slabs
which had been joined to the limestone by strips of copper, fragments of which were

TELL EL-FARA'IN 1967~68
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still in position in the dowel holes. The inner limestone wall, consisting of large blocks
2—3 m. long, was set on a limestone pavement 86 cm. thick. This pavement had been
dressed in position, and it overlaid a thick layer of clean yellow sand, more than a
metre in depth. Although many of the wall blocks were missing their positions could
be easily ascertained by the deep grooves cut in the pavement which served as guide
lines for the builders. The weight of the stones had also caused considerable subsidence
so that the pavement in some places had sunk as much as 12 cm. With the aid of the
guide lines and the subsidence, it would have been possible to reconstruct the internal
structure of the temple if the pavement blocks had remained in position. The ceiling
was also of fine white quartzite covered with raised five-pointed stars 8 cm. across,
several fragments of which were found lying on the pavement or in the sand (pl. III,
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3)- The mudbrick enclosure wall rose to a height of 2:40 m. above the pavement level
in a series of steps. The surface was plastered with mud and it was 1-80 m. wide. At one
point, in Kk 23 where a square was dug across this mudbrick enclosure wall, evidence
was found of another mudbrick wall running parallel to this. In the Ptolemaic Period
cross-walls had been placed across the intervening space, but originally there must have
been an ambulatory paved with limestone slabs running round the outside of the inner
enclosure wall. This appears to be part of the same structure found in 1965. Between
the inner mudbrick enclosure wall and the limestone wall was a space of approximately
one metre filled with clean yellow sand. This building was erected during the Saite
Period, the type of building being similar to that found at Mendes. Traces of the throne
name of Amasis, Hnm-ib-rc, were found on pink plaster scattered throughout the
filling. This plaster had been placed over the original stone and was therefore not of
Saite date but later (see Insc. no. 7 below, fig. 3). It is known that Amasis, 570-526
B.C., in his long reign constructed or restored various Delta sanctuaries; for instance,
at Nabésha (to Edjo),’ at Bubastis,2 at Mendes,3 at Sais,* and at Memphis. He died,
however, before the task of restoration was complete and the scarcely finished work
was largely destroyed by the Persians. At Buto the whole temple had been violently
destroyed, the quartzite having been ripped off the limestone blocks and smashed into
tiny fragments. It must have been razed by the Persians who wished to uproot the
sanctuaries of the national deities; the same thing happened at El-Kéb. But whereas
the E1-K4b sanctuary was rebuilt by Darius II, it seems obvious that the same thing
did not take place in the Delta. In fact, it appears that in the Persian Period the site
was largely deserted, to judge by the layer of detritus on Site C and the lack of occupa-
tion debris.

The temple must have been restored in early Ptolemaic times but, except for the
Satrap stelas and the inscribed pink plaster, the evidence is uncertain. The temple
seems to have fallen into disuse after the first four Ptolemies, probably as a result of
disturbances in the Delta after the battle of Raphia. The evidence for this is the building
of houses encroaching on the temple walls, and the building of a kiln actually upon the
wall itself, which is dated by coins and pottery to the period of Ptolemy VI Philometor
(180-145 B.C.).

This year many additional statue fragments were found scattered through the filling
overlying the temple floor. Most of these were of granite or diorite and consisted of
arms, legs, and part of a striding figure in pink granite. One of the more interesting
finds, from near the temenos wall, was that of the upper part of a statue in black granite.
This was half life-size and an excellent piece of work. The face is delicately modelled
with slightly large ears. The nose and both shoulders are broken. The head-dress is a
bag wig ending on a back pillar with titles including ‘Servant of Horus and prophet

I Petrie, op. cit., pl. xiv.

2 Revillout, Rev. égyptologique, 2, 43 ; stela (Berlin 8439) with foundation text of Amasis in year 32 or 34
for a temple at Bubastis.

3 Naville, Ahnas el Medineh, 177 ; Hanson, ARCE 4 (1965), 32.
4 Stela of Year 8 of Amasis recording a dedication of a court and land to Neith and Horus (B.M. 1427).
s ZAS o, 1 f.; Sethe, Urk. 11, 11 ff.
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of Bastet’ (see p. 21). The face shows the careful modelling to be found on some of the
late sculpture with its high cheek-bones and strongly marked chin. The finish is smooth
rather than highly polished. Extant height is 22 cm. (see pl. III, 1, 2). Mr. B. V.
Bothmer has kindly provided the following comment on this piece:

The bust you found . . . is a very good example of late Saite sculpture in the round. The piece
undoubtedly dates from the reign of Amasis and is very close to the somewhat later kneeling
naophorous statue found by Professor Emery at Sakkara . . . [see fEA 53, pl. XXIII, 1 and 2, Ed.].
The bust is very close to one from Athribis in the Museum of Fine Arts in Boston which I have
discussed in Egyptian Sculpture of the Late Period, No. 60, pp. 71-2, figs. 140-2. Your piece, how-
ever, appears to be somewhat earlier and thus I would not hesitate to place it around 540-520 B.C.

There were also discovered in the temple area several inscribed limestone slabs
of probable New Kingdom date, most of them thought to be from the Nineteenth
Dynasty (see p. 20).

The evidence now collected suggests that there is a temple surrounded by double
enclosure walls of mudbrick, with an inner wall of limestone lined and roofed with
quartzite. It was almost certainly that of Edjo the Cobra-goddess. This was the temple
which was seen by Herodotus,” but his chapel has long since been destroyed. The
temple was called Per-Edj6 from which the name of Buto is derived. According to
Gardiner the earliest reference to Per-Edj6 is probably in the Twentieth Dynasty in
the Onomasticon of Amenemope.? The name of at least one high priest of the Late
Period is known—Har-hotpe.3

Search was made for the foundation deposits at the north-eastern corner of the
enclosure, the only place where the corner was sealed by stone, but in spite of continuing
below the water level this hunt met with no success. I am inclined to think this is be-
cause the foundation deposits had already been disturbed by the stone robbers. Several
small blue glass rectangles were found loose in the fill and a T-shaped copper object.

Further evidence of the political disturbances at the site during the Ptolemaic period
was obtained from piles of sling stones found actually overlying the mudbrick enclosure
wall in Jj 23. These had been made out of limestone presumably from the temple
structure.

With the object of examining the structures between the temple and the main
temenos wall in Gg 21/2, we laid down a trench between the two, which revealed a
number of Ptolemaic rooms whose floors were made of pounded limestone. They
contained the usual furniture of pottery, plain lamps, pounders, and coins. Room 3
contained, in addition, part of an inscribed grey granite bowl, perhaps of Twenty-
second Dynasty date, and obviously out of place (see Insc. no. 26 below), a small
terracotta figurine with Grecian-style draperies (FN 1769), and various Ptolemaic coins
dating to the end of the Ptolemaic Period.

It is now possible to say after the work this year that there are at least two separate
temple structures inside the enclosure wall. The one that has been described here in
detail is Saite, but there are the remains of an earlier structure lying to the west of it.
This latter was probably of New Kingdom date and almost certainly of the Nineteenth

111, 155. 2 Ancient Egyptian Onomastica, 11, 191%. 3 Ann. Serv. 20, 27—32, pl. ii.
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2. K6m el-Dahab. Entrance through buttressed outer wall. The projecting section of wall on the left
represents the second building phase
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Dynasty, as the majority of the inscriptional material found in this area belonged to
Ramesses II. All that remains of this structure is the mudbrick platform on which it
was set. It was a considerably larger building than the Saite temple and contained
a columned hall with limestone pillars, only the bases of which remain. Traces of the
sand underlying the limestone pavement, which had been completely robbed, could
be seen on the outer side of the enclosure wall in Hh 22 and Gg 22. It was through
this building that the Ptolemaic builders had driven their wells constructed to a large
extent of material culled from the earlier building. Although the structure may be said
to be of New Kingdom date, it probably had later additions in the Twenty-Second
Dynasty to judge from the inscribed fragments found. The Ptolemaic buildings had
cut through and largely destroyed the outer mudbrick wall of this temple.

By the last few years of the Ptolemaic Period the temple enclosure seems to have
been entirely given up to industrialization. The reeking pottery kilns must have cast
a thick pall of smoke over the area, similar to that seen today in Disiiq along the canal. In
view of the very large pottery manufacture it seems impossible that it was all for local
consumption. The extensive importation of wine, and the manufacture here of amphorae,
some of which have been found as far away as the Agora in Athens,’ suggest a two-
way trade in the Ptolemaic Period of which at the moment we know very little.

The whole temple area had been very much cut into by pits. These were of several
periods, the earlier Ptolemaic and Roman ones being partly removed by the later
Islamic sebakheen cuttings, which could easily be distinguished by the presence of
Islamic clay pipes (post-sixteenth century).

The great temenos wall of the temple stands about 10-25 m. above the ancient ground
level although it must originally have been much higher. It varies in width between
17 and 25 m., and is built of alternate layers of reeds and large bricks, the size of which
was 20 X 38 X 14 cm. In 1967 samples of reeds were taken with a view to obtaining a
carbon-14 date which has now been determined as between 650 and 570 B.C., a date
which would well fit in with the Saite reconstruction of the temple. It would be a
natural security measure to build the temenos wall before building the inner structure.

In an attempt to date the main temenos wall and see what it was resting upon,
trenches were put down on the north-east side just north of the break in the wall
shown on fig. 1. This showed that the structure of the wall was of two periods and
that the Saite was a later addition—the earlier is probably Ramesside. The bricks were
of two sizes, the earlier being smaller and better made. In addition a doorway partly
blocked by bricks (18 x 11 cm.) was found. It was 2 m. high and 1 m. wide leading to
a passage through the temenos wall floored with thin limestone slabs showing very
considerable signs of wear. This paving led away outside the wall towards the cultivation.
Inside we were only able to clear the passage for a distance of 6 m. as it was found just
at the end of the season. The roof was lined with baulks of timber in an excellent state
of preservation.? On the floor were found two bronze coins dating to Ptolemy III

1 Agora Excavations Pg636 is of the same fabric and shape as FN 374 which is locally manufactured at Buto.
2 1 am indebted to Miss Cecil Weston and Mr. Shaw for the information that this timber belongs to a
tropical family, probably Sapotaceae, which is now found in the Southern Sudan or in the Equatorial Province.
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Euergetes (246—221 B.C.) in a very worn condition, several complete pots, and part of a
bird’s foot in bronze. From this evidence it is obvious that the passage was in use during
the third century B.c. The coins inside the passage were part of a group, as other large
bronze coins of Ptolemy III and IV had been found lying in the fill outside. Whether
this passage runs straight through the wall or leads to a chamber within the wall must
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await further investigation. It may have been bricked up and blocked at the time of the
revolt in Ptolemy IV Philopator’s reign after the battle of Raphia (which may have
been when the piles of sling stones were collected for use), or during the disorders that
followed the elevation of the boy Ptolemy V to the throne.

In addition a square 20 X 10 m. was laid down east of the inner enclosure wall to test
what buildings there were beyond the enclosure. In this area, however, no buildings
were found in the upper levels, but a thick deposit of blown sand indicated a period of
abandonment. In the south-east corner of the enclosure a Roman house was partly
built over the wall with mudbrick walls and a lined plaster tank.

Ko6m el-Dahab (Mound of Gold), also called Kém el-Sayyajah (Mound of Jewellery),
(fig. 2). Work on this small isolated mound presented certain problems. It was approxi-
mately 3 km. from the Excavation House and there was no road to it. The field paths
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were continually rendered impassable by the changing water-channels. It was, however,
in the midst of the cultivation and the journey to it provided an unrivalled chance of
studying modern Egyptian agriculture, including the rice fields, which were progres-
sively flooded, and maize standing three cubits high like the corn in the fields of Iaru.
Dumping was a problem as irrigation ditches ran round three sides of the site. On the
fourth side the mound had been cut away by the sebakheen hunters, but as there was
a case pending between the Antiquities Department and the local landowner we were
not able to dump on this land. A compromise was reached by placing the soil as close
to the mound as possible, a not altogether satisfactory arrangement.

The present square outline of the mound is not its original shape, which was con-
siderably larger and more oval. All that is left is the highest part, and trees. An area
approximately 35X 30 m. in the south-west of the mound was excavated involving
squares Uu 51, 52, and 53 and Vv 52 and 53 on the grid. There were at least three and
probably four periods of occupation.

Period I, Roman. No structures beyond a few clusters of burnt brick and some pits.
The buildings, if any, of this period had been eroded.

Period II. This was divided into IT A and II B. They were both Ptolemaic. The
earliest of these, B, consisted of a substantial walled building with buttresses at intervals.
This wall was 1-37 m. wide. Inside was a double row of well-built brick rooms averaging
in size 4 X 2-50 m. The inner part of the mound at this level appeared to have no struc-
tures and was an open space—it may have been a barrack square or parade ground.
The rooms, which had been reused in the later period, had been largely cleared but
limestone sling-stones, some arrows of flint and of bronze, an iron spearhead, a grotesque
head in clay, and the usual pounders and mortars as well as pottery could be assigned
to this period. The date of the earlier Ptolemaic structure was second century B.C.,
established from the numerous Hellenistic jar stamps indicating that the garrison had
enjoyed imported wine, mostly Rhodian. It was probably a small guard-post for the
north-east side of the town. There were considerably more storage jars for both liquids
and solids than would have been required in an ordinary house. What was interesting
was the almost complete lack of true Egyptian objects in this collection, indicating that
the garrison had been completely Hellenized.

In Period II A the very substantial brick walls of the previous period had been cut
away in part to allow for the insertion of small furnaces some 50 cm. across. They were
made of reused pottery, bricks, and plaster with a draught hole at the base made of the
necks of discarded amphorae. These small furnaces were of an entirely different type
from the kilns discovered in the previous years and were probably used for metal
smelting. A large number of bronze objects was found in these levels—nails, buckles,
hooks, chisels, and needles—as well as a quantity of metallic slag. The coins, which
were numerous, dated the period to Ptolemy VI Philometor (180-145 B.C.).

Period I11. In this phase the Ptolemaic building seems to have been set on a very much
larger mudbrick structure with sloping sides made of larger mudbricks. This structure
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filled the west side of the squares, but time did not allow for its complete investigation.
The water was reached at a depth of 4 m. in the middle of the Kom.

Three important objectives remain—the Predynastic cemetery, the temple of Horus
of Pe, and the earlier temple of Edjb.

The early graves are not necessarily (although they may be) beneath the water level.
If the early settlement is beyond Mound A, they may well be under the modern village
of Sekhmawy which has only been built for about go years, largely constructed of stones
and material removed from the site.

The temple of Horus of Pe was almost certainly on Mound C but it may be beneath
the modern village of Muhammad el-Baz, as the deposit of bronze hawks found in 1924
came from an area within the village.

The position of the earlier temple of Edj3, if it is not below the present building, as
seems the case, is probably in Mound A.

The Coins!
By Peter A. Clayton

UNFORTUNATELY, because of the high salt content of the soil on the site, the greater
proportion of the coins found were corroded beyond recognition. The typical specimen,
found in large numbers, was simply a bright green disc, averaging 21 mm. in diameter,
which invariably broke into pieces when any attempt was made to clean it; it was
therefore only possible to record these coins numerically in the broad categories of
Ptolemaic, ‘tokens’, and Roman. The figures given for these ‘unidentifiables’ are
minimum ones since in many instances the coins broke in the workman’s hands even
before they could be identified for simple ascription purposes.

Ptolemaic ‘Tokens’ Roman
Tell el-Fard‘in 74 31 8
Kém el-Dahab 897 188 13

The ‘tokens’ should perhaps be first explained. These were small, circular bronze
pieces varying between 5 and 15 mm. in diameter. Often they presented a small flange
on one edge, sometimes two on facing sides, which seems to indicate that the blanks
for striking, or possibly the actual ‘tokens’, had been cast in linked moulds, the narrow
neck of metal joining them being subsequently cut or broken. Their condition was
such that it is not possible to state categorically whether they were in fact cast or
struck pieces. Generally nothing could be seen on them, even after cleaning, although
occasional specimens did seem to have, on what may be termed the obverse, remnants
of the head of Zeus Ammon, familiar from the larger Ptolemaic bronze coins. The most
recognizable element of the design was his ram’s horn. ‘Tokens’ is used here merely as a

1 Abbreviations used: BMC—British Museum Catalogue of Greek Coins, The Ptolemies, Kings of Egypt,
by R. S. Poole, London, 1883. Milne—Catalogue of the Alexandrian Coins in the Ashmolean Museum, Oxford,
by J. G. Milne, Oxford, 1933.
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convenient term to describe these small pieces as they do not appear to be part of the
normal currency issue.

The large number of unidentifiable coins from Kém el-Dahab, over goo, may be
narrowed to the later Ptolemaic period and, by virtue of their fairly constant average
diameter and weight (in so far as their condition permitted such diagnosis), almost
certainly represent the very common issue, found widely on the site, of Ptolemy VI
Philometor (180-145 B.c.). This has obverse, the head of Zeus Ammon facing right,
and reverse, two eagles on a thunderbolt facing left.r

The identifiable coins of the PTOLEMAIC series? start with Ptolemy III Euergetes I
(247-222 B.C.). Four of his large bronze issue,? average diameter 40 mm., were found
at site B in Ss 23, one of them on a floor. These were in very fine condition, the finest
coins found so far on the site—unexpectedly fine in view of the adverse conditions
affecting preservation of coins. Another large bronze (34 mm.), also from Ss 23, had
basically the same obverse and reverse types.* From Gg 21, room 3, came two specimens
of the second coinage with the head of Alexander the Great facing right with an
elephant’s skin head-dress as the obverse type,5 and a third came from Kk 23(1),
found above the mudbrick end wall. A coin from Gg 21, with the usual obverse and
reverse types, carried in the field on the reverse the mint device or signature of a harpa,
indicating the mint of Joppa in Palestine as its source—the harpa being ascribed to
Joppa by virtue of its association with the Perseus myth.?

Ptolemy IV Philopator I (222—-204 B.C.) is represented by four coins of the normal
type,8 from site B in Ss 23, all in good condition.

Two coins of Ptolemy V Epiphanes (204-181 B.c.) were found at Kk 23(1),% above the
retaining wall of the temple, and a third at site B in Ss 23.1° Three other specimens of
similar diameter and weight to coins FN 1709 and 1713 but in corroded condition
were found at Kk 23(1) and they are probably of the same type as these. Also from
Kk 23(1) was a coin of Ptolemy VI Philometor I (180-145 B.c.) struck during the period
when Cleopatra I was acting as regent from 181 to ¢. 174 B.c.!! This has her head as
the obverse type, in the guise of Isis, facing right, and was probably struck at Paphos.

The coins of Ptolemy VI Philometor are by far the most numerous amongst those
found on both Tell el-Fara‘in and Kém el-Dahab (see above). The commonest type
has obverse, head of Zeus Ammon and reverse, two eagles on a thunderbolt facing left.2
Five specimens’3 were found in Gg 21(2), the houses inside the temple area. Other

! BMC 57, p. 108, pl. xxvi, 12. See further on these coins p. 22 below.

2 The common types of Ptolemaic bronze coins are, obverse, head of Zeus Ammon facing right and, reverse,
an eagle (occasionally two) standing either right or left, wings open or closed, with various devices or mono-
grams in the field, and the legend TTOAEMAIOY BAZIAEQZ. Therefore the full description of the types
is omitted in the following account for the sake of brevity and to obviate repetition. The full description of
the types mentioned will be found under the references cited.

3 BMC 87, pl. xii, 1: FN 1715, 1720, 1742, 1780. 4+ BMC 52, pl. %, 7: FN 1718.
s BMC 111, pl. xii, 7: FN 1781(2), 1710. ¢ BMC 77, pl. xi, 6: FN 1778.
7 BMC, p. Ixxxvi. 8 BMC 38, pl. xv, 3: FN 1714, 1716, 1717, 1721.
9 BMC 77, pl. xviii, 2: FN 1709, 1713. o BMC 75, pl. xviii, 1: FN 1710.

11 BMC 2: FN 1712.
12 BMC 57, p. 108, pl. xxvi, 12, the small module averages 22 mm. in diameter; BMC 24, p. 106, pl. xxvi,
8, the larger module averages 30 mm. diameter. 13 BMC 57, p. 108. pl. xxvi, 12: FN 17224, 1730.
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examples of this small size were from Jj 22 just above sand (FN 1707); two from Jj 23(1)
(FN 1531(7)); one from Jj 34 outside kiln 77 and on a level with the kiln (FN 1531(4));
two from Jj 34 west side of mound in level 1 (FN 1531(5) and (6)), and one from
Jj 33, level 2 (FN 1332). An example of the larger size of this type came f<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>